Mr S Hearse
Chief Executive
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG
DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700
Date:

3 December 2021

FULL COUNCIL MEETING
On:

Monday 13 December 2021

At:

Venue:

Caddsdown Business Support Centre, Clovelly Road, Bideford - Bideford

6.30 pm

From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in person. The Council is
also required to follow Government guidance and ensure that all venues used are Covid secure and
that all appropriate measures are put in place. Members of the public will be able to attend the
meeting in person if they are registered to speak under public participation. Any members of the
public who want to view the meeting will be able to watch through the Councils YouTube Channel
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube

NOTICE OF MEETING
You are hereby summoned to the Meeting of the District Council at the aforementioned date and time

Chief Executive

To:

Councillor D Bushby (Chair)
Councillor P Christie (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: R Boughton, D Brenton, C Bright, M Brown, R Clarke, C CottleHunkin, R Craigie, A Dart, L Ford, J Gubb, P Hackett, P Hames, S Harding,
C Hawkins, K Hepple, R Hicks, C Hodson, D Hurley, J Hutchings, T Inch,
K James, D Jones, S Langford, N Laws, C Leather, R Lock, J Manley,
D McGeough, J McKenzie, S Newton, P Pennington, P Watson and R Wiseman

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting

AGENDA
PART I - (OPEN SESSION)

1.

Apologies For Absence
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting

2.

Council Minutes (Pages 5 - 17)
Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on 1 November 2021

3.

Action List (Page 18)

4.

Public Contributions
15 minute period for public contributions. The deadline for registering to speak is by
2pm Thursday 9 December 2021. To register please email
dem.services@torridge.gov.uk

5.

Declarations of interest
Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the
nature of their interest when the item is being discussed.

6.

Agreement of Agenda Items Part I and II

7.

To consider correspondence or other business especially brought forward by
the direction of the Chair

8.

To answer questions submitted under Procedural Rule A9

9.

Mid-Year Review of Treasury Management (Pages 19 - 27)
To receive the report of the Deputy S151 Officer

10. Council Tax Base 2022/23 (Pages 28 - 31)
To receive the report of the Finance Manager (S151 Officer)
11. Localisation of Council Tax Support (Pages 32 - 47)
To receive the report of the Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer)
12. Grounds Maintenance - Capital (Pages 48 - 49)
To receive the report of the Finance Manager (S151 Officer)
13. Active Torridge - Strategy Aims (Pages 50 - 52)
To receive the report of the Chair of Active Torridge & the Chief Executive

14. Petitions
To receive petitions (if any)
15. Notices of Motion
(a)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Ford
Regarding minutes of any meeting where appropriate and where it can be confirmed,
a Councillor who is not happy with the draft minutes should be able to speak to the
person who took the minutes and raise with them in a civilised and courtesy manner
their concerns and for salient omissions to be included in the final version.

Councillor Ford
29 November 2021.
(b)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Bushby
We are all aware of the extreme pressures currently being put on our emergency
services which effects the communities and residents of Torridge. I therefore propose
that Torridge District Council writes to South Western Ambulance Service, the MP for
Torridge and West Devon and the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care to
express our concerns on the delay in response times from 999 calls and the potential
impact this has on the health and wellbeing of our residents.

Councillor Bushby
30 November 2021
(c)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Brenton
Notice says that TDC produces a report to go to O&S External with answers to the
following questions:1) How many incidents of permitted surcharging of sewage into Torridge River
have taken place in the last 12 months?
2) What has been the response of the E.A?
3) What has been the bathing water qualities for the last 12 months?
4) What are the stats for shellfish qualities?
Councillor D Brenton
3 December 2021

16. Exclusion of Public
The Chair to move:
“That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972”

17. PART II - (CLOSED SESSION)
Items which may be taken in the absence of the public and press on the grounds that
exempt information may be disclosed.
18. Leisure Management Update - 5 Year Business Plan (Pages 53 - 62)
To receive the report of the Section 151 Officer
19. Leisure Management Update - Leisure Services Specification (Pages 63 - 66)
To receive the report of the Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer)
20. Bideford Business Park Land Aquisition (Pages 67 - 71)
To receive the report of the Head of Communities & Place
Meeting Organiser: Democratic Services

Agenda Item 2
1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
FULL COUNCIL MEETING
Caddsdown Business Support Centre, Clovelly Road, Bideford - Bideford
Monday, 1 November 2021 - 6.30 pm
PRESENT

Councillor D Bushby (Chair)
Councillor P Christie (Vice-Chair)
Councillors R Boughton, D Brenton, C Bright, M Brown, R Clarke,
C Cottle-Hunkin, R Craigie, A Dart, L Ford, J Gubb, P Hackett,
P Hames, S Harding, C Hawkins, K Hepple, R Hicks, C Hodson,
D Hurley, J Hutchings, T Inch, K James, D Jones, S Langford,
N Laws, C Leather, R Lock, J Manley, D McGeough, J McKenzie,
S Newton, P Pennington, P Watson and R Wiseman

ALSO PRESENT

S Hearse
S Dorey
S Kearney
D Heyes
J Walter
T Davies
E Seear
I Winslet
T Vanstone
K Brown
K Hewlett

251.

- Chief Executive
- Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring
Officer)
- Head of Communities & Place
- Finance Manager (Section 151 Officer)
- Strategy, Performance & ICT Manager
- Superintendent, Devon & Cornwall Police
- Inspector, Devon & Cornwall Police
- ARK Consultancy
- Senior Electoral & Democratic Services
Officer (Deputy Monitoring Officer)
- Democratic Services Officer
- Electoral and Democratic Services Officer

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
No apologies were received for the meeting.

252.

COUNCIL MINUTES
Chair ran through the minutes of the Full Council meeting on 20 th September 2021
with members page by page.
The following discussions took place and were agreed:



Page 7 – In relation to Councillor Pennington‟s submitted question, it was
requested that the original email response from Councillor Pennington be circulated
to members.
Page 8 item 232 – It was requested that, when the Finance & Section 151 Officer
attends the Devon County Council Pension employee meeting in February 2022, a

Page 5

2

question is asked regarding about investment in fossil fuels by Devon County. The
Finance Manager & Section 151 Officer responded and confirmed fossil
investments will be highlighted in a presentation and video.
It was proposed by Councillor Newton, seconded by Councillor Watson and –
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 th September 2021 be confirmed as a
correct record.
(Vote: For 30, Against 1, Abstention 2)
Chair ran through the minutes of the Extraordinary Full Council meeting on 5 th
October 2021 with members page by page.
It was proposed by Councillor Clark, seconded by Councillor Manley and Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 th October 2021 be confirmed as a correct
record.
(Vote: For 26, Abstentions 7)
Councillor Jones arrived at the meeting at 18:36 and was not present for the votes.
253.

PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS
Cathy Slaughter attended the meeting and spoke to members about the Climate
and Ecological Emergency Bill (CEE Bill). She explained her wish to persuade
members to support the CEE Bill, which would replace the 2008 Climate Change
Act.
Cathy provided members with some background to the CEE Private Members Bill
and mentioned the Environment Bill, which has been drafted by the Government.
She explained to members what she felt were the main differences between the
two Bills and highlighted what she considered to be the benefits of the CEE Bill.
Cathy concluded her contribution to the meeting by highlighting Citizen Assemblies
and her understanding of how these fit within the current democratic process.

254.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members were reminded that declarations of interest should be made as and when
the specific agenda item to which they related was under discussion.

255.

AGREEMENT OF AGENDA ITEMS PART I AND II
Chair confirmed there were no Part II items.

Page 6

3

256.

TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR
The following matters were raised by the Chair:
Chair highlighted an email received today at 5pm requesting that Councillors be
reminded to wear masks when moving around at meetings. Specific mention was
made of the 2-day Planning Committee taking place later in the week.

257.

TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9
Two questions had been submitted under Procedural Rule A9 by Councillor CottleHunkin and Councillor Pennington.
In accordance with the Constitution a written answer to the question had been
circulated to all Members.
Question received from Councillor Cottle-Hunkin
“We have spent a lot of time as a council discussing the Grounds Maintenance
Contract (GMC), over a large number of meetings, including meetings of the Major
Contracts Management Board (of which I was involved), Full Council, and also
Internal O&S. I have looked back over various minutes and reports, and at these
meetings, there was only mention of grounds maintenance in relation to the Tivoli
contract. There was no mention of the input from Town Councils. As councillors we
agreed we were unhappy with the Tivoli contract and wanted to take it back inhouse. However, I am seeking clarity over what will happen to the budget for the
Town Councils, particularly Great Torrington Town Council who are currently
provided with £3,353.32 p.a. to maintain both Rack Park (£1,523.50) and the
Churchyard (£1,829.82) in Great Torrington. GTTC have kept these areas to an
excellent standard over the past five years, and we do not want to risk this
changing. We have various community groups involved with these much-loved
spaces, we often get compliments from local residents over how brilliantly they are
kept, and we want this to continue into the future. Indeed Rack Park has just
received a South West in Bloom award as “Outstanding” for a community-run
project. GTTC was advised last week, by email, without any discussion (despite
GTTC seeking clarification over some months), that TDC intends to take over these
contracts from 01 April 2022”.
Councillor C Cottle-Hunkin
27 October 2021
Response:
Following the decision to bring the Grounds Maintenance service back in house,
Officers have been busy designing a service that will maintain all TDC owned land,
or land where TDC has a grounds maintenance obligation. From April 2022 the
Council will have the workforce, equipment and management systems in place to
be able to manage those areas without the need to contract out (including to other
Councils) any of it‟s obligations. Any budget that has previously been used to pay
external contractors should be recovered for use by TDC to ensure that the most
cost effective and efficient service is provided for the taxpayer. The service that will

Page 7

4

be provided is expected to be far superior to the standards of contracted out
provision that have created such dissatisfaction in our communities.
In the specific case of Rack Park in Torrington, the land was until 2016, maintained
as part of the Grounds maintenance contract. Since then the park has been
maintained by the Council through agency with Great Torrington Town Council
(GTTC) to a high degree of satisfaction. The added value that has led to the
success of the park appears to have been brought through community gardening
activity. It would be the intention of TDC grounds maintenance to replicate the
services it has funded GTTC to provide (meeting it‟s obligations under a 1994
agreement with the land owners The Great Torrington Town Lands, Alms Lands
and Poors Charities) and not to disallow and supplementary community activity to
improve the park. If GTTC wish to provide supplemental services that add value to
the TDC grounds maintenance provision this can be discussed although it is not
intended that TDC would fund this additional work.
Officers have met with representatives of GTTC and the community gardeners in
order that the situation can be fully understood. Your Officers have explained that it
is the intention of the Council to design and deliver a high quality service at best
value for the Council tax payers of the district. TDC hopes to be able to work in
partnership with the Town, with full cooperation to ensure that the park remains
maintained to the current high standard, the community engagement and capacity
building delivered through the community gardening is continued and that the Town
Council can have an active role in all of this. Final arrangements are yet to be
confirmed with GTTC as these matters of detail are still under consideration.
Officers are aware that GTTC need to know about final arrangements as soon as
possible for budget setting purposes.
Sean Kearney – Head of Communities & Place
At the invitation of the Chair, Councillor Cottle-Hunkin expressed her hope that
Torrington Town Council would be involved in the discussion on GMC.
Question received from Councillor Pennington
There have been significant changes in Universal Credit since the 1st October
with respect to the £20 a week top up being withdrawn balanced by 8% reduction in
taper rate from 63% to 55%.
Nationally it is estimated that 6 million working families lose out on top up but 1.9
million gain because taper reduction.
Does Torridge know how many families will be affected in our district?
Councillor P Pennington
28 October 2021
Response:
Torridge does not hold data required to answer the question raised as TDC is not
responsible for processing or paying Universal Credit, therefore the question was
raised with the DWP.


There are 5,038 „live‟ UC claimants in the Torridge District; all claims will be
affected by the £20 temporary uplift being removed.

Page 8

5



However, DWP don‟t know from this data who is in receipt of any UC, there could
be people on a nil award, therefore the uplift ending may not affect them. People
can have a „live‟ claim for up to 6 months but not receive any monies due to excess
income



There are 2,267 people in Torridge currently claiming UC & showing as being in
employment so should reflect how many will be affected by the taper. But as above
it doesn‟t mean these people are being paid UC & this is not in addition to the
above figure
Please note however, that these figures relate to people and not households, as
there may be multiple UC claimants in one household (customer, partner, adult
son/daughter)
Jo Wells – Revenue & Benefits Manager
At the invitation of the Chair, Councillor Pennington provided some context to his
question for members.

258.

DEVON & CORNWALL POLICE UPDATE
Superintendent Toby Davies introduced himself and explained he is the Local
Policing Area Commander for North and West Devon. He also introduced
members to Inspector Ewan Seear – the new Inspector for the area.
Superintendent Davies spoke about the last 18 months for Policing, the high
demand they have experienced and subsequent backlog. It was confirmed that
Devon and Cornwall would soon benefit from the Government „Uplift in Policing‟
with 16 new officers starting in the area before Christmas – these officers will be
transfers from other force areas and student officers. There is also a commitment to
increase neighbourhood officers in each sector (including Torridge), and within the
response and investigation team.
Superintendent Davies provided members with an overview of outcomes locally. He
then went on to highlight the areas of focus & priorities, which have been agreed
with the Police and Crime Commissioner and Community Safety Partnerships.
Specific mention was made of:




Violence against women and girls
County Lines
Road safety
Finally Superintendent Davies highlighted work taking place to tackle persistent
anti-social behaviour (ASB). The impact of ASB was recognised, as well as the
importance of partnership work and local community engagement.
Inspector Seer then introduced himself to members and provided some background
on his career in the Police. He explained his role and highlighted work taking place

Page 9

6

with TDC colleagues. Inspector Seer invited members to visit the team and see the
work taking place.
A discussion with members followed.
There was a query regarding the Marshall scheme and whether the evening time
patrols over the summer would be extended. Superintendent Davies explained this
was funded using Police and Crime Commissioner money, and continuation
funding was needed.
There was a query in relation to the status of Bideford Police Station and
Superintendent Davies confirmed that he would guarantee parity for all. He
explained the various ways everyone is able to contact the Police and how to
contact the Neighbourhood Beat Team for non-urgent matters.
Following a question raised around perceived Anti-Social Behaviour in the area
around Bideford Quay public toilets Superintendent Davies highlighted a new pilot
website called Street Safe - https://www.police.uk/streetsafe. This provides people
with an opportunity to report areas where they don‟t feel safe, but where there are
no incidents to report. The collected data is then used for mapping. Inspector
Seear stated they were aware of the concerns at this location and provided an
overview of some of the work taking place, highlighting the need for a community
response.
There was a query in relation to the Speed Watch initiative in Parishes.
Superintendent Davies was asked to confirm how the money for this initiative was
being used by Devon & Cornwall Police. Superintendent Davies agreed to pass on
member‟s feedback on Speed Watch and frustrations around set up time outside
meeting.
Following feedback on reporting incidents, 101 and Police follow up,
Superintendent Davies explained the variety of ways the public are now able to
report. It was explained how this would free up the 101 service more for those who
do not have access to social media or the internet. He also highlighted Community
Messaging, which provides users with updates on crimes and scams in their area he mentioned this would be useful for those in isolated areas.
It was explained why information passed to the Police may not result in visible
follow up, but Superintendent Davies stated information would be held and could be
used in the future.
Finally there was a discussion about recent media coverage and a person‟s right to
ask an officer to identify themselves. Superintendent Davies confirmed the advice
that had been provided in recent months.
Chair thanked Superintendent Davies and Inspector Seear for attending and
updating members.
Councillor Ford left the meeting at 19:25

Page 10

7

259.

HOUSING PROVISION - OPTIONS REPORT
Ian Winslet, from ARK Consultancy and Jon Walter, Strategy, Performance & ICT
Manager introduced the report to members.
It was explained that members agreed an action within the Strategic Plan to
investigate the feasibility of becoming a direct housing provider. As part of this the
Leader and Chief Executive liaised with Local Government Association (LGA), and
ARK Consultancy were employed to provide this options report.
The Strategy, Performance & ICT Manager and the consultant from ARK provided
members with background to the options report, which was written following 2
member workshops in July.
The consultant from ARK provided a summary of the options report. He highlighted
the key areas/drivers identified through the member workshops and explained how
these were used to develop the 6 key priorities and recommendations in the report.
Members were asked if they had any questions about the report.
There was a discussion around whether the Local Plan should be amended so that
the viability assessment takes place when a landowner puts forward a potential
site.
An amendment to the recommendation on viability assessments was proposed by
Councillor Hames and Councillor Christie seconded:
‘review the process of viability assessment at the SHLAA stage and the planning
stage of planning applications…’
Following a query regarding timescales the Strategy, Performance & ICT Manager
explained that no firm dates had been set as this was awaiting the outcome of Full
Council, but project plans are being prepared and discussion are underway.
Cllr Brenton proposed to move the recommendations on page 21 of the report.
There was discussion regarding planning and the use of the community
infrastructure levy. The consultant from ARK confirmed that this still exists and is
used by some Local Authorities still. The Head of Communities & Place confirmed
that Torridge does not use the community infrastructure levy.
There was a request to add an additional bullet point to the report
recommendations about liaising and networking with Local Authorities working
through the process. Councillor James confirmed that he and the Chief Executive
made links with Teignbridge at the recent DCN conference and provided feedback
on a Zoom Meeting with Mid-Devon and South Hams.
Councillor James went on to provide members with an update regarding the work
already taking place on the recommendations listed in the report and confirmed that
Viability was on the agenda for the Local Plan working group to look at.

Page 11

8

Councillor Hames confirmed that he was proposing an amendment to the first
conclusion on page 20 of the report regarding viability and confirmed the wording
as
‘review the process of viability assessment at the development land allocation stage
(SHLAA) and at planning stage….’
It was confirmed that when these cases come forward they will be heard at the
Local Plan working group and viability would be look at. Councillor Hames
requested that the amendment still be written into the report.
It was proposed by Councillor Hames, seconded by Councillor Christie and a vote
was taken - the motion was lost.
(Vote: For – 10, Against 21, Abstentions 2)
Councillor Gubb was not present for the vote.
It was proposed by Councillor Brenton, seconded by Councillor Newton and
Resolved:
That the recommendations of the report be agreed and officers instructed to:
 Review the process of viability assessment at Planning stage of planning
applications that are submitted with less than policy compliant affordable
housing provision.


Undertake an assessment of land and buildings in the Council‟s ownership and
score with a site assessment tool the likelihood of a site being deliverable for
housing and rank sites accordingly.



Investigate funding opportunities to help with housing delivery i.e., from One
Public Estate and Homes England.



Arrange a Strategic session with Councillors using the results of the above
recommendations to develop a „Strategic Housing Delivery Plan‟ with an agreed
model for delivery and our preferred partner(s).

(Vote: For - Unanimous)
260.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSONS FOR HARBOUR BOARD
The Head of Communities & Place provided members with a summary of the
report.
It was confirmed that the recommendations were to re-appoint Non-elected
Representatives Mr. Norman Hardaker and Mr. Tim Gibbs following the end of their
current term of office. As well as to appoint Mr. John Puddy, following his
involvement on the working group for the last 2 years representing Bideford
Chamber of Commerce.

Page 12

9

Councillor Hicks, Chair of Harbour Board, provided his support to the
recommendations.
It was proposed by Councillor Hicks, seconded by Councillor Manley and –
Resolved:
That Full Council appoint to Bideford Harbour Board Working Group as follows:
a)

Mr Norman Hardaker to the role of Independent Person for a term of 4 years,
pursuant to section 28 of the Localism Act 2011;

b)

Mr Tim Gibbs to the role of Independent Person for a term of 4 years,
pursuant to section 28 of the Localism Act 2011.

c)

Mr John Puddy to the role of Independent Person for a term of 4 years,
pursuant to section 28 of the Localism Act 2011.

(Vote: For – Unanimous)
261.

TDC & ACTIVE TORRIDGE LEISURE - STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
The Chief Executive presented a report to members. It was explained the aim
would be to consider and approve the strategic vision for the provision of Leisure
Services within the District. This was the next step following the establishment of
the Local Authority Trading Company (LATC) in July and the member workshop in
August.
The Chief Executive went on to highlight the 10 strategic objectives listed in the
report and how these will be used to build the service specification. It was clarified
that Active Torridge, as an independent company, will then set out how they will
meet the Council‟s objectives as part of the next phase in the process.
Following a short discussion, the Chief Executive confirmed that consultation would
take place, but explained the need to set the services up and get them running, so
it would need to be done at a later stage.
It was proposed by Councillor Jones, seconded by Councillor James and –
Resolved:
That the draft Strategic Objectives proposed in the report, with the inclusion of an
objective encompassing the Council‟s Climate Emergency declaration, be approved
and taken forward to form the basis of a Service Specification, Business Plan and
Financial Model.
(Vote: For 31, Abstentions 1)
Councillor Inch was not present for the vote.
Councillor Cottle-Hunkin left the meeting at 20:04.

Page 13

10

262.

CYCLE OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 2022/23
The Chief Executive explained to members that the Cycle of Committee Meeting
report was to confirm the Committee meeting dates for 2022/23.
There was a query regarding the North Devon Crematorium meeting dates and
whether these could be added to the schedule, as well as Property & Major
Projects. It was explained there is a meeting of North Devon Crematorium
Committee later this week where future meeting dates will be discussed; once
these dates are confirmed they will be added to the Committee cycle. In relation to
Property & Major Projects it was explained the schedule is for Public Committee
meetings only.
The Senior Democratic & Electoral Manager (Interim Deputy Monitoring Officer)
explained that once the schedule was confirmed Outlook calendar invites would be
sent for all the planned meetings for the year and any changes would be updated
as and when they occur. It was confirmed that members would receive meeting
invites for all committees and the working groups they sit on.
It was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by Councillor McKenzie and –
Resolved:
That the proposed programme of committee dates for 2022/23 be approved.
(Vote: For - Unanimous.)

263.

PETITIONS
There were no petitions.

264.

NOTICES OF MOTION
(a) Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Christie
Given the recent IPCC Report on global warming it is proposed that
Torridge supports the Climate and Ecological Emergency Bill.
The Bill a)

b)
c)
d)
e)

requires that the UK plays its fair and proper role in reducing
greenhouse gas emissions consistent with limiting global
temperature increase to 1.5 degrees C above pre-industrial
temperatures;
ensures that all the UK‟s consumption emissions are accounted for;
includes emissions from aviation and shipping;
protects and restores biodiverse habitats along overseas supply
chains;
restores and regenerates the UK‟s depleted soils, wildlife habitats

Page 14

11

f)

and species populations to healthy and robust states, maximising
their capacity to absorb CO2 and their resistance to climate heating;
sets up an independent Citizens‟ Assembly, representative of the
UK‟s population, to engage with Parliament and Government and
help develop the emergency strategy

Councillor Peter Christie
8.10.2021
Councillor Christie introduced his Notice of Motion and made mention of
the presentation from Cathy Slaughter at the start of the meeting. He asked
members for their support and provided additional context on the 6 issues
highlighted. Councillor Christie requested a recorded vote.
Members provided their views and discussed the Notice of Motion.
Chair confirmed that a request for a recorded vote needed the support of 5
members. When members were asked to show their support more than 5
raised their hand.
It was proposed by Councillor Christie, seconded by Councillor Brenton
and
Resolved:
That members support the Climate & Ecological Emergency Bill.
(Vote - Yes 17, Against 16)
COUNCILLOR
BOUGHTON, R

FOR

BRENTON, D G

X

BRIGHT, C

X

BROWN, M

AGAINST
X

X

BUSHBY, D

X

CHRISTIE, P S

X

CLARKE, M

X

COTTLE-HUNKIN C
CRAIGIE, R

X

DART, A L

X

FORD, L
GUBB, J
HACKETT, P J W

X
X

Page 15

ABSTAIN

12

HAMES, P

X

HARDING, S
HAWKINS, C

X
X

HEPPLE, K

X

HICKS, R H

X

HODSON, C

X

HURLEY, D

X

HUTCHINGS, J

X

INCH, A T

X

JAMES, K J

X

JONES, D

X

LANGFORD, S

X

LAWS, N

X

LEATHER, C

X

LOCK, R A

X

MANLEY, J

X

McGEOUGH D A D

X

McKENZIE, J

X

NEWTON, S

X

PENNINGTON, P W

X

WATSON, P

X

WISEMAN, R

X

TOTAL - 33

17

16

(b) Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Gubb
This motion is to adopt the Motor Neurone Disease (MND) Charter, which
sets out the care and support that people living with MND and their carers
deserve and should expect.
The MND Charter is made up of 5 points:
1. The right to an early diagnosis and information
2. The right to access quality care and treatments
3. The right to be treated as individuals and with dignity and respect
4. The right to maximise their quality of life
5. Carers of people with MND have the right to be valued, respected,

Page 16

13

listened to and well-supported.
By adopting the MND Charter, this council agrees to promote the Charter
and make it available to all councillors, council staff, partner organisations
and health and social care professionals who deliver services for the
council.
We will raise awareness of MND and what good care looks like for those
living with this devastating disease, as stated in the Charter, and do
everything we can as the council to positively influence the quality of life for
local people with MND and their carers living in our community.

Councillor J Gubb
13 October 2021
Councillor Gubb introduced her Notice of Motion for debate. Following a
brief discussion between members she requested that amendments were
made so the Notice of Motion would cover anyone with a life limiting illness
and be taken to Community & Resources Committee.
Following a brief discussion on the amendment Councillor Gubb was
advised by the Chair that the amendment was too extensive and would
change the Notice of Motion too substantially. Councillor Gubb was
advised members would need to vote on the original notice, or it could be
withdrawn. Councillor Gubb requested the Notice of Motion be withdrawn.
It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Hackett
and –
Resolved:
That the Notice of Motion be withdrawn.
(Vote: For, Unanimous.)

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 8.31 pm

Chair:

Date:

Page 17

Action List For 13 th December 2021
Minute
No.
252

Page 18

252

262

262

Action

By Who

Date Contacted

Comments

Completed

Forward Councillor
Pennington’s email, in
relation to the submitted
question on page 7 of the Full
Council minutes on 20th
September, to members.
Finance & Section 151
Officer to send members
copy of the presentation from
the Devon County Council
Pension Employee meeting.
Addition of the North Devon
Crematorium meeting dates,
once future dates are
confirmed.
Members to receive outlook
calendar invites for all
committees and the working
groups that they sit on.

Dem Services

12/11/21

Councillor Pennington
emailed for copy of
relevant email.

Ongoing

Dem Services

12/11/21

Emailed to members
following the
publishing of draft
minutes.

Complete

Dates agreed at 5
November meeting.
Dates added to
schedule & mod.gov

Complete

Dem Services

Dem Services

Complete

Agenda Item 3

Full Council

Agenda Item 9
Agenda Item
REPORT OF

Deputy S151 Officer

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Mid-Year Review of Treasury Management

Date:

13 December 2021

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
To report on the treasury management activity in the year to date.

1.

INTRODUCTION
The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Treasury Management, which requires that a mid-year
review should be presented on treasury management activity.

2.

REPORT
This Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public
Sector and operates its treasury management service in compliance with this code and the other
statutory requirements. These require that the prime objective of the treasury management activity
is the effective management of risk, and that borrowing activities are undertaken on a prudent,
affordable and sustainable basis.
This report sets out:
 The performance for the year 2021/22 so far
 Implications
 Conclusion
 Recommendation

The Council’s Strategy and Performance so far
The Treasury Strategy and Investment Strategy were agreed by Full Council at its meeting on 22nd
February 2021 (attached as Appendix 1).
No new borrowing was proposed and investments would be short-term but periods would be spread
to take best advantage of interest rates.
The Council currently has Public Loans Board debt of £661k outstanding.
Currently the Council has short term investments of £23m lodged with financial institutions, the
comparable figure for the same time last year being £17m.
Short-term interest rate returns have fallen significantly due to the current global pandemic and are
around the in Bank of England’s Base Rate of 0.10%.
The average rate of return earned by the Council on its short term investments is forecast to be
0.07% which compares with 0.24% in 2020/21.
The forecasted return from short term investments for 2021/22 is £14k, which compares with a
return of £31k in 2020/21.

Page 19

The Council sets parameters pertaining to the Counterparties with which it invests it funds. These
criteria include the minimum acceptable credit quality of the counter parties; i.e. their
creditworthiness.
The counterparty list also enables diversification and thus helps to avoid the concentration of risk.
The creditworthiness methodology used to assess the Counterparty list takes account of the rating
published by the Fitch rating agency and utilisation of Capita’ s Treasury Management Services.
Counterparty List is attached in Appendix 2 for information.

Counterparty Limits during the Global Pandemic
Due to the global pandemic Torridge has paid out millions in grants to local businesses.
The most recent of these (The surplus balance of £5.4m from the Jan-March lockdown & Restart
grants), were returned to central government during November 2021.
This has meant that during the year, the council has exceeded its counterparty limit with its main
banker Lloyds. We are currently holding £8m with Lloyds on an instant access basis (this is in
addition to the £5m limit)
This will be moved to other counterparties within the constraints of the treasury management policy
and cashflow considerations (which will use most of these funds in the run up to the end of the
financial year).
3. IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
There are no specific legal implications.
Financial Implications
All treasury management activity carries a level of risk, but adherence to the approved strategy
minimises this. However, minimising risk needs to be balanced with the income generated and the
expenditure incurred through treasury management activities.
The Council’s treasury strategy can be best summarised in order of priority as
•
•
•

Security of investment
Liquidity
Return on investment.

The Council employs Capita Asset Services as its external Treasury advisors.
Human Resources Implications
There are no specific human resources implications.
Sustainability Implications
There are no specific sustainability implications.
Equality/Diversity
There are no specific equality/diversity issues.

Page 20

Risk Management
The risk that borrowers may default is minimised by adherence to the Treasury Management
Strategy, the credit rating of counter parties being checked prior to making the investments, all
financial institutions with which the Council contracts are UK registered and have a Fitch F1 rating.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
The report fits within the Council’s Treasury Management framework.
Ward Member and Lead Member Views
Lead Member Cllr. C. Hodson has been consulted in the writing of this report and commented:“We continue to be in a low interest environment. With this in mind, the treasury management mid
year review confirms that the investment strategy set out at the start of the financial year is
delivering a reasonable rate of return, whilst having regard for the security of investments. Going
forward the uncertainties in the wider economy will continue to impact on interest rates.”
Date of Consultation – 01 December 2021
4.

CONCLUSIONS
Returns on the Council’s investments have reduced, as the Bank of England cut of interest rates
due to the global pandemic has taken full effect
The economic situation remains uncertain but is monitored so that appropriate treasury
management action can be taken as required.

5.

RECOMMENDATION
Members are asked to note the Mid-Year Treasury Management Review.
Members are asked to note the breach of the counterparty limit with Lloyds bank, due to the
administration of grants from central government to businesses during the global pandemic

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Date of Consultation – 01 December 2021
Officers Consulted –
Chief Executive
Head of Legal and Governance (& Monitoring Officer)
Finance Manager and Section 151 Officer

Contact Officer:

Peter Hudson – Senior Capital Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer

Background Papers:

Treasury Management papers held in the Accountancy Section at
Riverbank House.

Page 21

APPENDIX 1
TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
Treasury Management and Investment Strategy for Year Ending 31 March 2022
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The proposed Treasury Management and Investment Strategy for the financial year
2021/22 are set out in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management. The Strategy is in line with the Prudential Indicators approved by Council.

2.0

BORROWINGS

2.1

No new long-term loans were taken out with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) during
2020/21.

2.2

Borrowings from PWLB at 31 March 2021 will total £0.661m. The next scheduled
redemption occurs in March 2022 when a maturity type loan of £0.191m will be settled.
Further ahead there are 3 fixed interest rate loans outstanding totalling £0.470m with
redemption dates that run from March 2024 to March 2027.

2.3

The approved Prudential Indicators envisage that substantial further long-term borrowing
may be undertaken in the year 2021/22 relating to the new Environmental Centre. The
Waste Review report approved by Full Council on 23rd January 2017, highlighted the
potential requirement for up to £4.00m of external borrowing linked to the purchase of a
new depot and this was incorporated into the 2017/18 Capital Programme. This borrowing
is expected to be increased by full council by a further £1.6m to fund the new increased
costs of the Environmental Centre.
In addition to the Environmental Centre borrowing of £1m was approved by full council on
the 8th April 2019 (in order to increase the capital programme by £1m for
homelessness/temporary accommodation).

2.4

The Prudential Indicators on Appendix 3 to this report have been compiled on the
assumption that the borrowing will take place in the 2021/22 financial year however the
timing will be dependent upon the progress made with the project, the financial climate and
the availability of internal resources.

2.5

The Council will ensure that borrowing will only be undertaken when it is identified that
there is a need to do so.

2.6

The existing debt and loan schedule was considered in 2017/18 and it was concluded that
there was no advantage from re-scheduling or early redemption of existing loans.

3.0

INVESTMENTS

3.1

The Annual Investment Strategy for the forthcoming year is prepared in accordance with
guidance issued under the Local Government Act 2003.

3.2

On 31st March 2021 short-term investments placed with financial institutions are estimated
to be approximately £10m. The bulk of this amount represents the balances on Reserves
and Usable Capital Receipts.

3.3

The Capital Programme for 2021/22 will be financed from capital receipts, grants and
contributions, revenue contributions, reserves and borrowing. Internal borrowing may also

Page 22

be utilised in the implementation of parts of the Waste Review / further spend on
homelessness/temporary accommodation, and this will reduce the funds available for
investment.
3.4

The Investment Strategy during 2020/21 has been to keep investments at a shorter
duration due to ensure cashflow requirements relating to government grant programmes as
well as the delivery of the capital programme. With historically low yields this move to
shorter term investments (compared with longer investment periods) has had little impact
on the investment income the council receives.

3.5

The Investment Strategy for 2021/22 will be to spread the investments across
counterparties to minimise risk. Investment periods are expected to be maintained, interest
rates are expected to remain at their current historically low level. It is anticipated that the
level of investments will reduce further due to a projected budget shortfall and continued
capital expenditure.

4.0

INTEREST RATES

4.1

During 2020/21 the Bank of England Bank Base Interest Rate has remained at 0.10%.

4.2

The interest rate indications from the Bank of England’s latest meeting are for an
expectation that the Bank Base Rate will stay low for some time. Though they are not
expected to go negative, this is something the Bank of England has not ruled out.

4.3

Short-term interest rates are around 0.05% for 3 months rising to 0.10% approaching one
year. Interest rates available to the Torridge will be slightly lower because of the limited
names on Counterparty List and the size of the amounts that we invest.

4.4

Long term borrowing rates from the PWLB were increased by 1% on the 9th October 2019;
this was done by the treasury to try to discourage some of the borrowing to invest that had
been occurring by various councils around the country. This 1% increase has been
reversed this year along with increased reporting requirements surrounding the nature and
purpose of the borrowing. The current impact of this means the interest on a 20 year loan
will fall back to just under 2% from around 3%

5.0

COUNTERPARTY LIST & LIQUIDITY FRAMEWORK

5.1

The security of an investment should be considered paramount together with liquidity to
ensure that an investment will be repaid on the due date. These will be considered of
greater importance than yield. Investment yield will only be considered after security,
liquidity and market sector risk have been evaluated.

5.2

In order to minimise the risk from a failed deposit-taker the Council sets a maximum
investment amount and a maximum holding with any institution limit.
The current limits are:
 Maximum Investment amount to £3m.
 Maximum holding with any individual institution £5m
The Councils counterparty list includes all Fitch F1 rated UK Banks and Building Societies.

5.3

The Authority will only undertake Specified Investments, which are denominated in sterling.
Such investments can only be made with the United Kingdom Government, another local
authority, or a body awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency. The Authority will
not undertake Non-specified Investments. This strategy will avoid being locked into lower
rates when interest rates rise and to ensure flexibility to fund the capital programme.

Page 23

5.4

For the purposes of this Strategy a high credit rating is defined as short-term F1 or better as
rated by Fitch Ratings Ltd. The Senior Capital Accountant maintains a counterparty list
comprising UK Government Departments, UK Local Authorities and major banks and
building societies with a minimum credit rating of Fitch F1 that operate in the local authority
market. Guidance recommends that other factors and information such as the sovereign
rating of a country or market data regarding the sector or the counterparty should also be
considered.

5.5

Link Asset Services (formerly known as Capita Asset Services) are engaged as the
council’s external Treasury advisors. As part of their service they undertake a monthly
review of investments held and produce a report to confirm the credit strength of
investments held.

5.6

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with
the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon our
external service providers. It also recognises that there is value in employing external
providers of treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which
their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular
review.

5.7

Appendix 2 gives details of our authorised counterparties comprising UK Government
Departments, UK Local Authorities and major banks and building societies with a minimum
credit rating of Fitch F1 that operate in the local authority market. A list of our current
counterparties/investments is also given. The Credit ratings of the Counterparty List will be
monitored at least quarterly to ensure they continue to meet the council’s requirements.
Credit ratings of relevant counterparties will be checked on the day of (and prior to) the
investment being placed. Some counterparties are not taking further deposits as they do
not require further funding and this could limit our ability to invest at the most beneficial
rates from time to time.
Appendix 6 gives the details of the council’s approach to ethical investments, comprising of
“green treasury deposits”, where such deposits are given priority if they meet the following
conditions:
 Meet the councils investing limits and credit requirements (i.e. F1 rated UK Banks
and Building Societies)
 Meet the investment timescales required to manage the councils cashflow (e.g. 3
months / 6 months / 1 year)
 Any reduced yield when comparing to standard treasury deposits is within 0.2% (at
an annual rate)

5.7

5.8

It is inevitable that as part of daily transactions and cash management, sums will be held
with the council’s bankers consistent with the council’s cash management needs. The
Council appointed Lloyds Bank as its bankers with effect from 1 January 2015.
The Council has previously approved Svenska Handelsbanken to operate a call/short term
notice account and will be operated when the interest rates on offer are competitive.
Interest rates on call accounts will vary from time to time and it may be necessary to
change providers from time to time.

6.0

DELEGATION

6.1

It should be recognised that the background to this Strategy may change very quickly which
is why the detailed operation of the Treasury Management function is delegated to the

Page 24

S151 Officer.
The S151 (responsible) officer is responsible for: recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval,
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance;
 submitting regular treasury management policy reports;
 submitting budgets and budget variations;
 receiving and reviewing management information reports;
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;
recommending the appointment of external service providers.
Members should recognise that decisions often have to be taken quickly in the light of
prevailing circumstances and that the strategy may therefore need to change during the
course of the year.
The Council’s Community and Resources Committee receive reports on treasury
management policies, practices and activities and make recommendations to full Council.
7.0

TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS

7.1

The Indicators for Treasury Management are as follows;

7.2

The Council must set limits to contain the activity of the treasury function within certain
limits. An upper limit is required on its fixed and variable interest rate exposures for
outstanding principal sums on both borrowing and investment.
Upper limit on
interest rate
exposure %
Principal
outstanding

2020/21
Estimate

2020/21
Forecast
Actual
for 31st
March

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

2023/24
Estimate

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

Fixed
Interest
Rate Exposures
Variable Interest
Rate Exposures

7.3

Upper and lower limits are needed for the maturity structure of borrowing. The amount of
projected borrowing that is at a fixed rate maturing in each period as a percentage of
total projected borrowing that is fixed rate at the start of the period:
2020/21
Actual
Under 1 year
1 year < 2 years
2 years < 5 years
5 years < 10 years
10 years and above

8.0

19%
24%
34%
23%
0%

Lower limit Upper limit

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

30%
30%
60%
60%
100%

The CIPFA Code requires the Responsible Officer to ensure that members with
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury

Page 25

management. This especially applies to Members responsible for scrutiny. The need for
Member training in treasury management will be revisited during 2021/22.

Page 26

Appendix 2

Current Counter-parties for deposits as at 30 November 2021

The treasury policy allows any Fitch F1 rated UK Bank or Building Society
Current Counterparties (@ 30 November 2021):

Counterparty
Lloyds Bank
Lloyds Bank
Lloyds Bank
Lloyds Bank
Lloyds Bank
Goldman Sachs Bank
Goldman Sachs Bank
Bank Of Scotland

Inv
No.
91051
91132
91132
91133
91133
91134
91135
91136

£
1,000,000
1,000,000
7,000,000
3,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
3,000,000
5,000,000
23,000,000

Date
Placed
18-Jan-21
4-Sep-20
28-Sep-21
30-Mar-21
28-Sep-21
8-Jul-21
28-Sep-21
28-Sep-21

Date
Returned
18-Jan-22
31-Mar-22
31-Mar-22
31-Mar-22
31-Mar-22
8-Jul-22
28-Sep-22
31-Mar-22

Day
s
365

365
365

Rate
0.100
0.010
0.010
0.040
0.040
0.300
0.400
0.010

Notes
Instant access
Instant access
95 Day notice Green Deposit
95 Day notice Green Deposit

Instant access BOS

Investment in the above is subject to the counterparty having credit rating of F1 short
term or better as rated by Fitch Ratings Ltd. At the time of investment and subject to
counter-party limits.
The maximum single deal size is £3m (note instant access accounts may be above
£3m as several transfers can occur).
The maximum holding is £5m per counterparty.
Investments may also be placed with United Kingdom Government Departments,
agencies and other UK Local Government Authorities.
Up to £8m may be held from time to time with the council’s bankers Lloyds in order to
meet financial commitments as and when they are due.

Counterparty Limits during the Global Pandemic
Due to the global pandemic Torridge has paid out millions in grants to local
businesses.
The most recent of these (Restart grants and Jan-March lockdowns), were returned
to central government during November 2021.
This has meant that during the year, the council has exceeded its counterparty limit
with its main banker Lloyds. We are currently holding £8m with Lloyds on an instant
access basis, which will be moved to other counterparties within the constraints of
cashflow considerations (which will use most of these funds in the run up to the end
of the financial year).

Page 27

Agenda Item 10
REPORT OF

Finance Manager and Section 151 Officer

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Council Tax Base 2022/23

Date:

13 December 2021

Agenda Item

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
To set the Council Tax Base for 2022/23
1.

INTRODUCTION
Council tax regulations require the Council Tax Base to be set by 31 January.

2.

REPORT
The Council Tax Base is calculated by taking the number of chargeable dwellings within the
district at 30th November 2021, together with the estimated affects of changes arising from:







Banding Appeals
New Properties
Claims for Local Council Tax Support
Other Reliefs (such as single person discounts)
Other changes to the council tax list
Consequences of losses and delay in the recovery of the tax levy

At the time of writing this report the process to calculate the number of band D equivalent
dwellings as estimated at the 30th November 2021 has not been fully completed, which is
often the case when the meeting setting the base falls close to the 30 November. In such
instances the data is tabled at the Full Council meeting. The process to obtain the Council
Tax Base information is briefly described below:


1st December Capita (the Council’s software provider) extract a copy of the Council
Tax data as at the close of business on the 30th November into the Academy test
database. Capita will have to do this for all their clients throughout the country.



2nd – 7th December officers within the Council’s systems admin team extract data
from the Academy test database into the Council Tax Base modelling system. The
data extracted is then validated.



7th December the Council Tax Base data is shared with colleagues in Finance, so
that the information is available for tabling at Full Council on the 13th December.
The tax base information is then shared with the Council’s preceptors (Devon
County, Devon and Cornwall Police and Devon & Somerset Police) and the Parish/
Town Councils within the District.

For information the equivalent figure at 30th November 2020 was 24,664.15
The number of Band D equivalents is then adjusted for a non collection percentage. Based
upon current performance the amount collected is estimated to be 98% (97.45% in 2021/22).
The collection rate has been adjusted due to the ongoing impact of the current global
pandemic. The number of Band D equivalents (after accounting for the non-collection
percentage) provides the tax base for each individual parish and for the whole of the
Torridge District Council Area.

Page 28

For information the 2021/22 tax base after accounting for non collection was 24,035.20.
Appendix 1 shows the council tax base used for 2021/22 broken down by each parish.
The information that will be tabled at the Full Council meeting is as below



3.

Band D Equivalents as at 30th November 2021
Band D Equivalents as at 30th November 2021
(after 2.0% non collection rate)
2022/23 Tax Base broken down by Parish

XX,XXX
XX,XXX

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
The Council has a legal requirement to set a council tax base and to inform the major
precepting bodies by 31st January each year.
Financial Implications
Collection of council tax within the district is of major consideration in funding services and
treasury management.
Human Resources Implications
There are no specific human resources implications.
Sustainability Implications
There are no specific sustainability implications
Equality/Diversity
There are no specific equality/diversity issues in calculating the tax base.
Risk Management
If collection rate is not achieved than there will be a shortfall on the Collection Fund.
However past performance indicates that 98% is a reasonable estimate for 2022/23.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
Reflects the local council tax support scheme
Ward Member and Leader Member Views
Lead Member Cllr. C.Hodson has been consulted in the writing of this report and
commented that
"the Council has a legal requirement to set a council tax base by 31st January each year.
The tax base can only be approved by either Full Council or Community & Resources (C&R)
Committee.
The next C&R meeting is on the 24th January 2022, which is close to the statutory deadline.
Furthermore if the formal approval of the tax base was delayed to the 24th January 2022, this
would impact adversely on both our preceptors and parish/town council in setting their
precepts. Consequently the actual figures for the tax base will be tabled at the Full Council
on the 13th December 2021.”

4.

CONCLUSION
The 2022/23 Council Tax Base will be tabled at the Full Council 13th December 2021.

Page 29

5.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Committee:Agree the Council Tax Base for 2022/23

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Date of Consultation – 02nd December 2021
Officers Consulted –
Chief Executive
Head of Legal and Governance (& Monitoring Officer)
Finance Manager and Section 151 Officer

Contact Officer:

Gwydion Batten – Senior Accountant Collection fund

Background Papers:

Tax base working papers

Page 30

Appendix 1
Parish
Abbotsham
Abbots Bickington
Alverdiscott & Huntshaw
Alw ington
Ashreigney
Ashwater
Beaford
Bideford
Black Torrington
Bradford & Cookbury
Bradw orthy
Bridgerule
Broadw oodwidger
Buckland Brew er
Buckland Filleigh
Bulkw orthy
Claw ton
Clovelly
Dolton
Dow land
East & West Putford
Frithelstock
Great Torrington
Halw ill
Hartland
High Bickington
Hollacombe
Holsw orthy
Holsw orthy Hamlets
Huish
Landcross & Littleham
Langtree
Little Torrington
Luffincott & Tetcott
Merton
Milton Damerel
Monkleigh
Northam
New ton St Petrock
Pancrasw eek
Parkham
Peters Marland
Petrockstow e
Pyw orthy
Roborough
Shebbear
Sheepw ash
St Giles on the Heath & Northcott
St Giles in the Wood
Sutcombe
Thornbury
Virginstow
Weare Giffard
Welcombe
Winkleigh
Woolsery
Yarnscombe
Lundy
Total Tax Base

2021/22
Tax Base
219.76
14.52
168.39
150.51
211.75
291.58
196.47
5,367.96
204.72
219.59
419.83
271.90
250.61
336.13
61.29
29.58
125.03
153.67
351.67
42.55
132.50
148.48
1,677.16
312.90
734.48
399.80
20.87
1,053.63
370.39
15.12
224.51
308.76
159.96
68.01
125.24
177.04
128.54
5,021.11
78.24
92.94
332.16
78.65
167.44
298.44
126.38
359.85
113.87
225.83
234.31
126.78
113.19
43.68
171.98
85.71
624.79
453.31
132.19
9.45
24,035.20

2022/23
Tax Base

0.00

Page 31

Agenda Item 11
Agenda Item
REPORT OF

Head of Legal and Governance

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Localisation of Council Tax Support

Date:

13th December 2021

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
1. To update Members on the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2021/22
2. To obtain approval for the current scheme 2021/22 to roll over to 2022/23
3. To obtain approval for the current Exceptional Hardship Policy to roll over to 2022/23

1.

INTRODUCTION

Localised Council Tax Support Schemes were introduced for the working age in England from April
2013. Billing authorities are required to design their own schemes to administer Council Tax
Support working within a framework set out in legislation. The Government has been clear that
pensioners (a pensioner for this purpose is anyone who has reached the age where they would
qualify for State Pension Credit) should be protected and that any changes should support work
incentives. In addition, Councils are required to consider vulnerable groups when setting their
scheme.
Torridge District Council‟s Council Tax Support Scheme has not changed since implementation in
April 2013 and only affects customers who are of working age.
Pensioners are subject to a national Council Tax Support Scheme set by Government.
2.

REPORT

The purpose of this report is for Members to agree the rollover of the 2021/22 Scheme and the
Exceptional Hardship Policy (appendix 2) to 2022/23.
The Devon authorities have historically worked in partnership in an attempt to provide a common
and consistent approach to the individual schemes across Devon. Although, the partnership
continues to collaborate and share good practice, there is little commonality left within the schemes
due to changes adopted by other Councils that were previously rejected by Torridge. (A summary of
the 2021/22 Devon schemes can be seen as appendix 1.) None of the Devon Authorities are
looking at making any changes to their Schemes for the financial year 2022/23.
South Hams/West Devon moved to an income banded scheme in 2019/20; Teignbridge, North, East
and Mid Devon moved to an income banded scheme in 2020/21.
Exeter were planning to move to an income banded scheme from 2021/22; however, they deferred
any changes to their Scheme and continue to do so for the foreseeable future whilst the impact of
the coronavirus pandemic is evaluated.
Torridge were of the same mindset as Exeter and in March 2019 a Member/officer working group
(Leader, Deputy Leader and Lead Member for Customer Support, supported by the Customer
Support Manager and Benefits Team Leader) was established after Members approved this in a

Page 32

previous Council meeting. The group‟s purpose was to consider the possibility of implementing an
income banded scheme.
The group last met in November 2019 and unfortunately, due to key officers leaving the Authority‟s
employment in February 2020 and March 2020 and the ongoing Coronavirus pandemic, work on
producing a new Scheme for 2022/23 has not been possible.
Resources have had to be utilised elsewhere in order to implement and maintain the various
initiatives that the Government have announced, at short notice, since March 2020 and ongoing.
Below is a summary of the schemes we have had to administer, in addition to the „normal‟ day-today work, using the resource we have. The amount paid for the various initiatives from the start of
the pandemic in 2020 up to the end of October 2021 totals nearly £56 million (£55,951,500.34).
A new Household Support Fund has been finalised and gone „live‟ from w/c 15.11.2021 to assist
vulnerable households over the winter period.

Test and Trace payment scheme (ongoing until at least 31.03.2022)

No of apps
rec‟d

No
successful

Paid from
Main
Scheme

Paid from
discretionary

Total paid
(£500 one-off
payment)

2020/2021

152

72

44

28

£ 36,000.00

2021/2022
Up to & inclu
31.10.21

619

324

173

151

£162,000.00

Total:

£198,000.00

Business rates grants:

Scheme Name
Scheme Dates
Small Business (SBG) & Retail Hospitality & Leisure (RHLG) Grants Apr 20 - Sept 20
Local Authority Discretionary Grant Fund (LADGF)
Apr 20 - Sept 20
Xmas Support (Wet Led Pubs)
03/12 – 31/12/20
National Restrictions (Nov-Dec Lockdown)
05/11 – 02/12/20
Local Restrictions Closed (Dec-Jan 5)
03/12/20 - 04/01/21
Local Restrictions Sector (Nightclubs)
03/12 – 31/12/20
Local Restrictions Open (Dec-Jan 5)
03/12 – 04/01/21
Closed Business Lockdown Payments
05/01 - 15/02/21
National Restrictions (Jan - Feb Lockdown)
05/01/21 -15/02/21
National Restrictions (Feb - Mar Lockdown)
16/02 - 31/03/21
Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) Discretionary
20/21 - 21/22
Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) Discretionary
20/21 - 21/22
Restart (Retail & Leisure)
01/04 - 30/06/21
TOTAL:

Page 33

No of Grants
Paid
2,483
228
38
1,495
50
4
597
1,460
1,460
1,447
868
525
1,316
11,971

Discretionary
£

1,238,500.00

£

589,306.00

£
£

1,459,829.00
796,100.00

£

4,083,735.00

Main
Year
£ 27,155,000.00 20/21
20/21
£
38,000.00 20/21
£ 2,087,252.00 20/21
£
31,724.00 20/21
£
3,334.00 20/21
20/21
£ 6,146,000.00 20/21
£ 3,074,337.00 20/21
£ 3,191,019.00 20/21
20/21
21/22
£ 9,850,066.00 21/22
£ 51,576,732.00

Covid winter support funds (economically vulnerable DCC – food vouchers etc)
No. of grants paid

01.05.20 to 31.03.21
01.04.21 – 31.08.21

113
56

Total paid

Monies given to individuals
& partner orgs, such as
encompass
£57,670.37
Includes £18k
£35,362.97
Includes £4k
Total:
£93,033.34

Claims for universal credit have increased since the Pandemic - Bideford Job centre had 2,026 „live‟
claims at week commencing 04 November 2019, compared to 4,114 at the end of September 2020,
and 5,038 at the end of October 2021.
The increase in UC claims has an impact on the number of notifications received by the benefits
team which need to be dealt with:

UC notifications
(Annual)
Up to 31st October

2019 / 2020
9,249

2020 / 2021
16,310

2021/2022
13,216 w/e 21.11.21

4,573

9,273

11,929

The changes recently announced with regards to UC will continue to have an impact on the teams‟
workload.


There are 5,038 „live‟ UC claimants in the Torridge District; all claims will be affected by the
£20 temporary uplift being removed.

However, DWP don‟t know from this data who is in receipt of any UC, there could be people on a nil
award, therefore the uplift ending may not affect them. People can have a „live‟ claim for up to 6
months but for a variety of reasons do not receive any monies, for example, excess income.
The other main UC change effective from 24th November 2021 is to the work allowances - the
amount a claimant can earn before their Universal Credit is reduced. This will increase by £500 per
year meaning many families will be able to earn over £500 per month before their benefits are
tapered off. Simultaneously, the taper rate, the amount that a person‟s Universal Credit is reduced
by when their earnings are more than their work allowance, will drop from 63% to 55%.
The DWP state that taken together, the changes mean almost two million families will be better off
by £1,000 a year, on average. There are 2,267 people in Torridge claiming UC and showing as
being in employment; these claims would be affected by the taper. However, as previously stated it
does not mean these claims are being paid UC.
Although these are the numbers of „live‟ claims within the Torridge area, these figures relate to
people and not households. There may be multiple UC claimants in one household (customer,
partner, adult son/daughter), however this does not negate the fact that an increase in notifications
of UC changes will be received by the team and need actioning.

Page 34

The ongoing pandemic continues to have an impact on the team and their work; the following tables
provide a year-on-year overview of the scheme.
Overall collection rate for council tax
Date

Oct 2016

Oct 2017

Oct 2018

Oct 2019

Oct 2020

Oct 2021

66.60%

66.35%

66.26%

65.81%

64.78%

65.24%

Overall collection rate from CTS claim accounts
Date

Oct 2016

Oct 2017

Oct 2018

Oct 2019

Oct 2020

Oct 2021

56.50%

56.90%

58.02%

57.04%

55.86%

57.22%

Recovery – Number of Summonses issued and amount
Date

Oct 2016 - Oct 2017
Number
£
356
158,098
79
46,269
2,394 1,647,790

Max CTS
Part CTS
Non CTS
Date

Oct 2019 to Oct 2020
**
Number
£

Max
CTS
Part
CTS
Non
CTS

Oct 2017 - Oct 2018
Number
£
385
148,888
79
38,461
3,575
1,860,129

Oct 2018 – Oct 2019
Number
£
337
155,460
82
39,900
3,612
2,058,390

Oct 2020 to Oct 2021
Number

£

45

15,706

380

204,079.91

13

3,154

81

48,114.19

892

342,721

4,379

3,255,398.16

** No summonses were issued between February 2020 and October 2020 due to the pandemic.
Recovery for the year 2020/21 recommenced in October 2020, with the first summonses being
issued 16 November 2020.
CTS Caseload Statistics
Date
W/A
P/A
Total

Oct
2016
2,647
2,194
4,841

Oct
2017
2,504
2,176
4,680

Oct
2018
2,083
2,374
4,457

Oct
2019
2,013
2,292
4,305

Oct
2020
1,997
2,173
4,170

Oct
2021
1,772
2,088
3,860

Diff
20/21
-225
-85
-310

CTS Spend
Date

Oct 2016
£
4,038,318

Oct 2017
£
4,042,168

Oct 2018
£
4,046,000

Page 35

Oct 2019
£
4,053,174

Oct 2020
£
4,153,893

Oct 2021
£
4,065,862

CTS COVID-19 hardship fund 2020/21
Funding
allocation
£419,266

Figures based on
caseload number
1,941

Amount spent
2020/21
£364,583

EXCEPTIONAL HARDSHIP FUND - Applications and Awards

2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
Up to Nov 2021

No of
applications

successful

unsuccessful

Allowance

Amount
spent

10
19
15
15
14
6

7
12
8
7
10
4

3
7
7
8
4
2

£27,000
£27,000
£27,000
£27,000
£27,000
£27,000

£ 704.00
£1,185.00
£ 647.46
£ 542.91
£1,867.00
£ 859.57

Reason for Refusal 2021/22 up to Nov 2021
Income exceeds
Not short-term need

Number
1
1

There is still the intention to investigate moving to an income banded scheme, the benefits of which
are:





To mitigate the impact of variable Universal Credit awards;
Simplified application process;
Simplified scheme;
Simplified administration.

The working group believed there are significant benefits to the customer and the Council of moving
to an income banded scheme and would have liked to have seen the introduction of such a scheme,
unfortunately, as mentioned previously this has not been possible during the current climate.
Financial modelling is due to re-commence in the new year, along with reconvening meetings with
the working group. The principal modelling will be based on the possibility of moving to an income
banded scheme where we could increase the maximum support from 75% without incurring
additional expense to the Council. This would require Members making some fundamental changes
that have previously been rejected and includes the introduction of a minimum income floor for selfemployed claimants.
Any change to the existing scheme will be subject to an extensive consultation exercise, normally
around 12 weeks.

Page 36

3.

IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
Any significant change to the scheme would be subject to an extensive public consultation process
and agreement of Council and the principal preceptors.
Financial Implications
The Council no longer receives a specific grant for the Council Tax Support Scheme as it is
included within the general government grant.
The total annual cost of the Torridge scheme is currently near to £4.1 million per annum.
Any change to the scheme that offers a higher level of financial support will be a cost to the Council
and our precepting authorities, who may be opposed to any such changes.
Additional costs would also be incurred in conducting the consultation exercise, software changes
and administration.
Human Resources Implications
There are no human resource implications for the 2021/22 scheme to be rolled over to 2022/23.
However, should changes be sought to the scheme then this will require urgent additional resource
and finances to deliver the changes and public consultation in time to meet the statutory deadline of
11 March 2022.
Sustainability Implications
There are no direct implications from these proposals.
Equality/Diversity
An equality impact assessment will need to be carried out on any proposed changes.
Risk Management
The change from a national benefit scheme to a local Council Tax Support scheme has always
represented a major change in Government Policy and in practice transferred all the significant risks
from Central to Local Government. This at a time when public spending is being reduced which
exposes the Council to considerable financial risk.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
The Scheme complies with policies and strategies.
Ward Member and Leader Member Views
Cllr David Hurley – Lead Member for Legal and Democratic Support – 3 December 2021
It is a little disappointing that we have been unable to review and consider a revised scheme.
However, this is understandable given that the impact of the pandemic has not gone away and the
workloads within the Revenues and Benefits team during the year have been such that was
insufficient resource to progress this area of work. The report to Full Council indicated that the
review would be subject to available resource. I am pleased though that dates have already been

Page 37

put in the diaries for work on this to start in January 2022 and a detailed project timeline put in
place.

4.

CONCLUSIONS

The Council is required to have its own local Council Tax Support scheme as part of the wider
Welfare Reform proposals introduced by Central Government, whilst at the same time being
required to generate savings compared to historical council tax benefit expenditure. In doing so, the
Council must consider prescribed vulnerability cases (Pensioners) and other vulnerable groups as
well as incentivising work.
The working group, which met prior to the pandemic, believed that an income banded scheme
which does not increase the cost of the scheme and reduces the minimum liability customers must
meet should be developed and introduced. However, as previously stated this has not been
possible due to resource reallocation because of the additional initiatives having to be implemented
as a result of the ongoing Coronavirus pandemic.
This report sets out the proposal for rolling over the current Scheme for Council Tax Support to the
financial year 2022/23, along with an Exceptional Hardship Policy and related delegated powers.
5.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that:
i)

The 2021/22 Scheme and Exceptional Hardship Scheme is rolled over to 2022/23

ii)

The working group reconvene with a view to working towards and introducing an income
banded scheme which would be developed and presented to Council in 2022. This will be
dependent on the continuing impact of the Coronavirus pandemic and resource permitting.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Chief Executive, Head of Legal and Governance, Finance Manager
(S151)

Contact Officer:

Staci Dorey

Background Papers:

Page 38

Appendix 1

am
s
H

W
es
t

So
ut
h

id
ge
yes

no

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

Remove family premium
Limit backdating to 1 month
Min income floor for s/e

no
no
no

yes
yes
yes

no
yes
yes

yes
no
yes

yes
no
yes

yes
yes
yes

n/a
no
yes

n/a
no
yes

4 week absence
Remove WRAC
limit dep children to 2
UC carer element
remove additional earnings
disregard for UC

no
no
no
no

no
yes
yes
yes

yes
yes
no
yes

yes
yes
yes
yes

yes
yes
yes
no

yes
yes
yes
yes

yes
no
n/a
yes

yes
no
n/a
yes

no

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

£6,000
D
75%
yes
yes

6,000
D
85%
yes
yes

£6,000
no
80%
yes
yes

£6,000
D
85%
yes
yes

£6,000
D
80%
yes
yes

£6,000
no
100%
yes
yes

£6,000
D
85%
yes
yes

£6,000
D
85%
yes
yes

Te
ig
nb
r

Te
ig
nb
r

N

no

h

or
th

M

banded scheme

scheme details

Capital limit
Band restriction
liability reduction
abolish SAR
Excep hardship scheme

id

Ea
st

Ex
et
er

To
rr

id
ge

CTS Schemes for Devon LA's 2021/22

am
s
W
es
t

H
So
ut
h

id
ge
N

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

none **

none

none

none

none

none

none

none

id

or
t

M

er
Ex
et

proposed changes

Ea
st

scheme details
Same as current year

To
rr

id
ge

Proposed CTS Schemes for Devon LA's 2022/23

** Torridge will be looking to review the scheme for implementation in 2023/24

Below are examples of household circumstances with comparison of CTS awards according to
current schemes.
Annual
Torridge
Mid Devon
Teignbridge South Hams
charge
(Maximum
(85%)
(100%)
(85%)
liability 75%)
Single on ESA £1,405.36 £790.52
£1,194.56
£1,405.36
£1,194.56
IR
(+£404.04)
(+£614.84)
(+£404.04)
Single working £2,138.15 £1,545.29
£962.17
£1,069.08
£534.54
16+ hours
(-£583.12)
(-£476.21)
(-£1,010.75)
Self-employed £1,405.36 £1,054.02
£913.48
£702.68
£702.68
lone parent
(-£140.54)
(-£351.34)
(-£351.34)
Self-employed £1,639.59 £1,116.96
£0.00
£409.89
409.89
couple & 2
children
(-£1,116.96) (-£707.07)
(-£707.07)

Page 39

Appendix 2

COUNCIL TAX
SUPPORTEXCEPTIONAL
HARDSHIP FUND
POLICY
Page 40

Contents
1. Background
2. Exceptional Hardship Fund and Equalities
3. Purpose of this policy
4. Statement of objectives
5. Awarding an Exceptional Hardship Fund Payment
6. Publicity
7. Making a claim
8. Change of circumstances
9. Duties of customer
10. Amount and duration of award
11. Payment of award
12. Overpayments
13. Notification of an award
14. The right to seek a review
15. Fraud
16. Legislation
17. Complaints
18. Policy review

Page 41

1. Background
The Exceptional Hardship Fund (EHF) has been set up by Torridge District Council to cover
the shortfall between Council Tax liability and payments of Council Tax Support.
Every customer who is entitled to Council Tax Support and who has a shortfall is entitled to
make a claim for help from the Fund.
The main features of the Fund are that:


Exceptional Hardship Fund awards are discretionary;



Customers do not have a statutory right to an award;



The Exceptional Hardship Fund Policy is held within the main Council Tax Support
scheme;



Exceptional Hardship Fund awards are not a payment of the main Council Tax
Support scheme;



The Revenues and Benefits Service, in conjunction with the Services‟ Lead Member,
decides how the Fund is administered;



Council Tax Support must be in payment in the week in which an Exceptional
Hardship Fund award is made;



Torridge District Council may decide that a backdated Exceptional Hardship award is
appropriate; which could then settle council tax arrears. This would be the only
circumstance where the Exceptional Hardship Fund could be used to facilitate
payment of Council Tax arrears.

In addition to this fund there is a Discretionary Housing Payments scheme which covers the
shortfall between rent and Housing Benefit or housing costs within Universal Credit.

2. Exceptional Hardship Fund and Equalities
The creation of an Exceptional Hardship Fund facility meets Torridge District Council‟s
obligations under the Equalities Act.
The Government has been clear that, in developing a local Council Tax Support scheme,
vulnerable groups should be protected. Other than statutory protection for low income
pensioners the Government has not prescribed the other groups that local Councils should
support. Torridge District Council has designed their Council Tax Support scheme to take
account of the various statutes that currently protect vulnerable people.
We recognise the importance of protecting our most vulnerable customers and the impact
these changes have. We have created an Exceptional Hardship Fund to ensure that we
protect and support those most in need. The Exceptional Hardship Fund is intended to help
in cases of extreme financial hardship and not support a lifestyle.

Page 42

3. Purpose of this Policy
The purpose of this policy is to specify how Torridge District Council‟s Revenues and
Benefits Service, in conjunction with the Services‟ Lead Member, will operate the scheme,
and to indicate some of the factors which will be considered when deciding if an
Exceptional Hardship Fund payment can be made.
Each case will be treated on its own merits and all customers will be treated fairly and
equally in the accessibility to the Fund and the decisions made with applications.
Where a customer is not claiming a Council Tax discount or exemption to which they may
be entitled; a welfare benefit or additional financial assistance, they will be advised, and
where necessary assisted, in making a claim to maximise their income, before their claim
for Exceptional Hardship Funds will be decided.
4. Statement of objectives
The Revenues and Benefits Service, in conjunction with the Services‟ Lead Member, will
seek through the operation of this policy to:


Allow a short period of time for someone to adjust to unforeseen short-term
circumstances and to enable them to “bridge the gap” during this time;



Support people in managing their finances;



Help customers through personal crises and difficult events that affect their finances;



Aim to help prevent exceptional hardship;



Support vulnerable young people in the transition to adult life;



Help those who are trying to help themselves financially;



Help to alleviate poverty;



Help to sustain tenancies and assist with the prevention of homelessness;



Keep families together;



Encourage and support people to obtain and sustain employment;



Give support to those who are financially vulnerable.

The Exceptional Hardship Fund is a short-term emergency fund, awarded whilst the
customer seeks alternative solutions.
It cannot be awarded for the following circumstances:


Where full Council Tax liability is being met by Council Tax Support;



For any other reason, other than to reduce Council Tax liability;



Where the Council considers that there are unnecessary expenses/debts etc which
the customer has not taken reasonable steps to reduce;



To reduce any Council Tax Support recoverable overpayment;

Page 43



To cover previous years Council Tax arrears;



Where there is a shortfall caused by a Department for Work and Pensions sanction
or suspension being applied because the customer has turned down
work/interview/training opportunities etc.;



When Council Tax Support is suspended.

5. Awarding an Exceptional Hardship Fund payment
The Revenues and Benefits Service, in conjunction with the Services‟ Lead Member, will
decide whether or not to make an Exceptional Hardship Fund award, and how much any
award might be.
When making this decision consideration will be given to:


The shortfall between Council Tax Support and Council Tax liability;



The steps taken by the customer to reduce their Council Tax liability;



Changing payment methods, reprofiling Council Tax instalments
alternative payment arrangements in order to make them affordable;



Ensure all discounts, exemptions and reductions are granted;



Steps taken by the customer to establish whether they are entitled to other welfare
benefits;



Steps taken by the customer in considering and identifying where possible the most
economical tariffs for supply of utilities;



Whether a Discretionary Housing Payment has already been awarded to meet a
shortfall in rent;



The personal circumstances, age and medical circumstances (including ill health and
disabilities) of the customer, their partner and any dependants and any other
occupants of the customer‟s home;



The difficulty experienced by the customer, which prohibits them from being able to
meet their Council Tax liability, and the length of time this difficulty will exist;



Shortfalls due to non-dependant deductions;



The income and expenditure of the customer, their partner, any dependants or other
occupants of the customer‟s home;



How deemed reasonable expenditure exceeds income;



That all income may be taken into account, including those which are disregarded
when calculating Council Tax Support;



Any savings or capital that might be held by the customer and their partner;



Other debts outstanding for the customer and their partner;

Page 44

or setting



Whether the customer has already accessed or is engaging for assistance with
budgeting and financial/debt management advice. An Exceptional Hardship Fund
award may not be made until the customer has accepted assistance either from the
Council or third party, such as the Citizens Advice or similar organisations, to enable
them to manage their finances more effectively, including the termination of nonessential expenditure;



The exceptional nature of the customer and/or their family‟s circumstances that
impact on finances;



The length of time they have lived in the property;

The list is not exhaustive and other relevant factors and special circumstances will be
considered.
An award from the Exceptional Hardship Fund does not guarantee that a further award will
be made at a later date, even if the customer‟s circumstances have not changed.
An Exceptional Hardship Fund award may be less than the difference between the Council
Tax liability and the amount of Council Tax Support paid.
6. Publicity
The Council will publicise this Fund and will work with interested parties to achieve this. A
copy of this policy is available for inspection and is published on the Council‟s website.
7. Making a claim
A customer must make
application to Torridge
internet, telephone or in
completion of the form
Housing Services at the

a claim for an Exceptional Hardship Fund award by submitting an
District Council. The application form can be obtained via the
person at the Council office. Customers can get assistance with the
from the Revenues and Benefits Service, Customer Services or
Council.

The application form must be fully completed and supporting information or evidence
provided, as reasonably requested by the Council.
In most cases the person who claims the Exceptional Hardship Fund award will be the
person entitled to Council Tax Support. However, a claim can be accepted from someone
acting on another‟s behalf, such as an appointee, if it is considered reasonable.
8. Change of circumstances
The Revenues and Benefits Service, in conjunction with the Services‟ Lead Member, may
revise an award from the Exceptional Hardship Fund where the customer‟s circumstances
have changed which either increases or reduces their Council Tax Support entitlement.

Page 45

9. Duties of the customer
A person claiming an Exceptional Hardship Fund Payment is required to:


Give the Council such information as it may require to make a decision;



Tell the Council of any changes in circumstances that may be relevant to their
ongoing claim;



Give the Council such other information as it may require in connection with their
claim.

10. Amount and duration of award
Both the amount and duration of the award are determined at the discretion of the Council
and will be done so based on evidence supplied and the circumstances of the claim.


The start date will usually be the Monday after the written claim for an Exceptional
Hardship Fund award is received by the Revenues and Benefits Service, although in
some cases it may be possible to backdate this award, based upon individual
circumstances of each case.



The Exceptional Hardship Fund will normally be awarded for a minimum of one
week.



The maximum length of the award will not exceed the end of the financial year in
which the award is given.

11. Payment of award
Any Exceptional Hardship Fund award will be made directly into the customer‟s Council Tax
account, thus reducing the amount of Council Tax payable.
12. Overpaid Exceptional Hardship Fund awards
Overpaid Exceptional Hardship Fund awards will generally be recovered directly from the
customers council tax account, thus increasing the amount of Council Tax due and payable.
13. Notification of an award
The Council will notify the outcome of each application for Exceptional Hardship Fund
awards in writing. The notification will include the reason for the decision and advise the
customer of their appeal rights.

Page 46

14. The right of appeal
If the customer is not satisfied with the decision in respect of an application for an
Exceptional Hardship Fund award; a decision to a reduced amount of Exceptional Hardship
Fund award; a decision not to backdate an Exceptional Hardship Fund award or a decision
that there has been an overpayment of an Exceptional Hardship Fund award, they must
make written representation to the Council setting out their grounds of appeal.
Torridge District Council will consider the appeal and respond in writing, setting out the
decision and associated reasons for the decision.
Any request for an appeal must be made within one month of the date of the notification
letter confirming the original decision.
15. Fraud
The Revenues and Benefits Service is committed to protect public funds and ensure funds
are awarded to the people who are rightfully eligible to them.
A customer who tries to fraudulently claim an Exceptional Hardship Fund award by falsely
declaring their circumstances, providing a false statement or evidence in support of their
application, may have committed an offence under The Fraud Act 2006.
Where the Revenues and Benefits Service suspects that such a fraud may have been
committed, this matter will be investigated as appropriate and may lead to criminal
proceedings being instigated.
16. Legislation
The Local Government Finance Act 2012 amends Section 13A of the Local Government
Finance Act 1992 and sets out the requirement for Councils to develop and adopt a
localised Council Tax Support Scheme. This Exceptional Hardship Fund Policy forms part
of this Scheme.
17. Complaints
The Council‟s „Compliments and Complaints Procedure‟ (available on the Councils website)
will be applied in the event of any complaint received about this policy.
18. Policy Review
This policy will be reviewed at least every 3 years and updated as appropriate to ensure it
remains fit for purpose. However, the review may take place sooner should there be any
significant changes in legislation.

Page 47

Agenda Item 12
REPORT OF

Finance Manager and S.151 Officer

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Grounds Maintenance – Capital

Date:

13 December 2021

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
For Members to approve the addition to the Council’s capital program vehicles and equipment
pertaining to bringing back in house the grounds maintenance function.

1.

INTRODUCTION
The Council’s grounds maintenance contract with its existing provider Tivoli expires on the
31st March 2022. Members have previously agreed that the grounds maintenance contract
should be bought back in-house. In order to deliver the service from the 1st April 2022 it is
necessary to purchase capital items.

2.

REPORT
The Council’s capital program is approved annually at Full Council; it was last approved on
the 22nd February 2021 along with the Council’s annual revenue budgets and Medium Term
Financial Strategy. The current approved capital program does not include items associated
with the delivery of an in-house grounds’ maintenance service.
By way of context an analysis of the current service has identified over 550 items within the
current contract totalling over 750,000 square metres to be maintained. These items include
small verges, lawns to hostels, 5 cemeteries, 5 closed cemeteries, 4 main sports pitches, 2
cricket pitches, car parks, office and business premises, Parks and Open spaces.
Due to lead in times associated with the procurement of the required items it is not practic al
to wait until the capital program is updated and formally approved at Full Council on 21st
February 2022. Consequently approval is sought from Full Council to add the items listed
below to the Council’s capital program.
Equipment (Strimmers, chainsaws etc)
Hand tools
Machinery (ride on Mowers x 4)
Transit Vans x 2 and trailers
Total

£ 7,650
£
780
£ 97,600
£ 67,000
£173,030

Going forward the grounds maintenance budgets will include an annual contribution to
reserve to replenish the above items as they become due for renewal.
3.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
No specific legal implications
Financial Implications
Outlined in the report

Page 48

Human Resources Implications
There are Tupe implications associated with bringing the service in-house but these are
separate to the purpose of this report.
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
Taking the grounds maintenance service in-house will provide potential to develop biodiversity on our own assets, conserving and enhancing our natural environment.
However in the first instance it is vitally important that the service is ready to deliver on the
1st April 2022.
Equality/Diversity
Not applicable
Risk Management
Without suitable equipment the grounds maintenance contract cannot be delivered safely.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
This report is in compliance with the Council’s Constitution
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
Not applicable
Climate Change
Over the course of the next few years the Council may seek to align its grounds
maintenance operations in line with the approved Carbon Plan. This will include the increase
of habitats for wildlife in the green spaces which we maintain. by rewilding, by planting trees
and shrubs and by sowing wildflower areas. Bringing in the service in house will allow the
Council to develop the service within its net zero ambitions.
When tendering for the equipment necessary to provide this service, suppliers will be
required to submit alternative battery powered machines. It is the intention from the start of
the contract to use a mix of petrol / electric battery power handheld equipment, such as
strimmer’s, leaf blowers and hedge trimmers.
4.

CONCLUSIONS
Due to lead in times on equipment and vehicle procurement an “in-year” addition to the
Council’ approved capital program is required.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That Members approve that


£173k is added to the Council’s approved capital program for Grounds Maintenance
and Vehicles as detailed within the report.

Page 49

Agenda Item 13
REPORT OF

Chair of Active Torridge & Chief Executive

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Active Torridge – Strategic Aims

Date:

13th December 2021

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT
For Members of Council to receive a report from Active Torridge outlining the Strategic Aims
of the Company in pursuance of the Strategic Objectives set out by TDC on 1 November
2021.

1.

INTRODUCTION
Full Council on the 1 November 2021 set out the Strategic Objectives the Council would aim
to achieve for the provision of leisure services across the District, which will be managed and
delivered through its trading company Active Torridge.

2.

REPORT
Active Torridge is committed to working in partnership with TDC to deliver a shared
commitment and ambition to improve the leisure offering and generate better outcomes for
residents and visitors alike.
The Active Torridge Shadow Board met on the 11 November 2021 and approved the
following to be reported to TDC Full Council:
Overall strategic aims of Active Torridge:
Active Torridge will make a positive difference to people’s lives, health and wellbeing by
helping more people be more active more often.
We will enhance the enjoyment and participation of its services for residents and visitors
alike.
We will invest in, review, and grow our leisure services, tailoring its services to the needs of
its customers and those not yet engaging with us, in a manageable and sustainable manner.
We will do this by:
1. Offering Torridge residents and visitors access to a quality leisure provision that
consistently meets, and where possible, exceeds their expectation.
2. Setting a 3-year target by demographic group (e.g., children, older people, community
referral) for the level of engagement and use of the facilities.
3. Developing a network of national, regional, and local connections in order to access
expertise, experience, partnerships, and potential funding.
4. Developing an HR strategy to recruit, retain and develop a workforce that feels proud to
work for Active Torridge.

Page 50

5. Supporting and guiding the management to develop, communicate and implement a
robust annual business plan.

3.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
Leisure Services are a discretionary area of activity for the Council and is under no legal
obligation to provide or manage leisure facilities.
Financial Implications
Not directly applicable as this report is about setting strategic objectives. However,
objectives that directly impact service provision and or building standards will ultimately
come with a cost.
Human Resources Implications
Not directly applicable.
Risk Management
Not directly applicable
Ward Member and Lead Member Views
Not applicable as is a report from Active Torridge.

4.

CONCLUSIONS
The approval of a set of Strategic Aims by Active Torridge in response to the Council’s
approval of its Strategic Objectives is the next step required in the journey for the future
delivery of the Council’s Leisure Services beyond March 2022.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Members asked to note the Strategic Aims of Active Torridge and the commitment to work in
partnership with TDC to deliver an improved leisure service offering for residents and visitors
alike.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Date of Consultation – Active Torridge Shadow Board 11
November 2021

Contact Officer:

Chief Executive

Background Papers:

Leisure Management Strategic Objectives Options Report, Full
Council 1 November 2021

Page 51

Page 52

Agenda Item 18

Document is Restricted

Page 53

Agenda Item 19

Document is Restricted

Page 63

Agenda Item 20

Document is Restricted

Page 67

